
Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | January 21, 2026 | Agenda 1 

OKLAHOMA AEROSPACE AND AERONAUTICS COMMISSION MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 21, 2026 AT 9 AM 

OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
FIRST FLOOR COMMISSION ROOM 

200 NE 21ST STREET, OKLAHOMA CITY, OK 

NOTE: The Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission may discuss, vote to approve, 
vote to disapprove, vote to table, decide not to discuss, or change the order of any item on the 
agenda. Any conflicts of interest must be disclosed prior to discussion, and the conflicted 
Commissioner must recuse from all discussion and votes pertaining to that item. 

AGENDA 

1. ANNOUNCEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE OPEN MEETING ACT, FILING OF
MEETING NOTICE, AND POSTING OF THE AGENDA — Vice Chairman Seth Phillips
Pursuant to the Oklahoma Open Meeting Act, this meeting shall be held at the Oklahoma
Department of Transportation (ODOT) First Floor Commission Room, 200 NE 21st Street in
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

The Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission Meeting is open to the general
public, but it is also available to watch through the link listed below:
To watch:
Public access meeting link: https://video.ibm.com/channel/CKEfwftDGHz
Make sure the volume on your PC (or other device) and the Ustream volume are turned up.

The meeting will be electronically recorded, and audio livestreamed from 200 NE 21st St.,
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105.

Public Access to complete Commission Packet: https://oklahoma.gov/aerospace

2. CALL TO ORDER AND RECORDING OF MEMBERS PRESENT AND ABSENT — Vice
Chairman Phillips and Adrienne Stroud, Executive Assistant

Action Required 

3. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE OKLAHOMA AEROSPACE AND
AERONAUTICS COMMISSION MEETING ON DECEMBER 10, 2025 – Vice Chairman
Phillips

Action Required 

4. INTRODUCTION OF NEW COMMISSIONER– Vice Chairman Phillips
The Commission will be introduced to new 3rd Congressional District Commissioner Bob
Baker.

https://video.ibm.com/channel/CKEfwftDGHz
https://oklahoma.gov/aerospace


Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | January 21, 2026 | Agenda 2 

Information Only 

5. FINANCIAL REPORT – Chris Wadsworth 
The Commission will be briefed on current financial figures. 

Information Only 

6. LEGISLATIVE, CONGRESSIONAL AND REGULATORY UPDATE – Sandra Shelton, 
Director of Government Affairs, Industry Development, and Communications 
The Commission will be briefed on legislation and public policy issues concerning airports, 
aviation and aerospace and Commission legislative initiatives for the 2026 Legislative 
session. 

Information Only 

7. ADMINISTRATIVE RULES FOR THE OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF AEROSPACE 
AND AERONAUTICS – Michelle Bouziden, Senior Project and Grants Manager 
The Commission will consider approving the recommended changes to the agency’s 
administrative rules regarding Title 25, Chapter 15.  

Action Required 

8. AIRPORT CONSTRUCTION GRANT PROGRAM CHANGE ORDER – Michelle 
Bouziden  

The Commission will consider approving an amendment as part of the Department’s acting 
as agent role for the Oklahoma Space Industry Development Authority (OSIDA) and 
supporting their infrastructure investment plans for state grant CSM-25-S for Phase 1 of 
the pavement rehab at Clinton-Sherman Airport (Burns Flat). The change order was 
necessary for additional construction administration due to extended contract time that 
resulted from additional spall repair and panel replacements identified while construction 
was ongoing. The estimated additional cost will be $60,225 and will be funded with 
$60,225 of OSIDA’s PREP funds. 

Action Required 

9. AIRPORT CONSTRUCTION GRANT PROGRAM – Nick Young, Airports Division 
Manager 
A. The Commission will consider approving a state grant for a project that is currently

identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at El Reno
Regional Airport. The project consists of constructing ten (10) interconnected box
hangars. Based on bids, the total project cost is $3,012,420 and will be funded with
$1,204,968 of state grant funds and $1,807,452 of sponsor matching funds. An approval
is contingent upon the Department receiving an acceptable grant application.

B. The Commission will consider approving a state grant for a project that is currently
identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at University of
Oklahoma Westheimer Airport. The project consists of lengthening and strengthening the
primary runway, shortening the crosswind runway, rehabilitation of the electrical system,
and optimizing connector taxiways. Based on bids, the total project cost is $28,148,478
and will be funded with $26,741,054 of federal grant funds, $703,711 of state grant funds
and $703,713 of sponsor matching funds. An approval is contingent upon the Department
receiving an acceptable grant application.



Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | January 21, 2026 | Agenda 3 

C. The Commission will consider approving design costs for a project that is currently
identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at William R Pogue
Municipal Airport (Sand Springs). The project consists of rehabilitating an existing facility
to serve as their terminal building and FBO hangar. The estimated cost for the design
phase of the project is $243,100 and will be funded with $111,826 of state grant funds
and $131,274 of sponsor matching funds.

Action Required 

10. CLINTON-SHERMAN CONTRACT – Nick Young, Airports Division Manager 
The Commission will consider approving staff to enter into a contract for pavement 
investigation on the main apron to determine pavement rehabilitation options as part of the 
Department’s acting as agent role for the Oklahoma Space Industry Development Authority 
(OSIDA) and supporting their infrastructure investment plans for the Clinton-Sherman 
Airport. Total project cost will be $50,370 and will be funded with $50,370 of revolving funds 
from OSIDA. 

Action Required 

11. STATEWIDE AIRPORT PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM UPDATE AND TRAINING 
– Nick Young, Airports Division Manager 
The Commission will consider approving staff to enter into a contract for airport pavement 
inspections, updates to the APMS online portal, and training for ODAA staff. Total contract 
cost will be $412,356 and will be funded with $412,356 of state funds.   

Action Required 

12. PROGRESSING RURAL ECONOMIC PROSPERITY (PREP) FUND AND PRO-GROWTH 
AVIATION INFRASTRUCTURE APPROPRIATIONS UPDATE – Director Ardies 
The Commission will be briefed on PREP funds allocated for certain infrastructure projects 
at Oklahoma airports. 

Information Only 

13. 5010 AIRPORT MASTER RECORD INSPECTION UPDATE – Thomas Galloway, 
Aviation Program Manager 
The Commission will be briefed on the 5010 Airport Master Record inspections completed 
in calendar year 2025. 

Information Only 

14. AIRCRAFT PILOT AND PASSENGER PROTECTION ACT (APPPA) UPDATE – Thomas 
Galloway 
The Commission will be briefed on the number of APPPA permits that have been issued or 
denied and other APPPA actions that have occurred during 2025. 

Information Only 

15. WIND ENERGY DEVELOPMENT ACT COMPLIANCE UPDATE – Thomas Galloway 
The Commission will be briefed on the 2025 submittals in compliance with Title 17 
requirements. 



Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | January 21, 2026 | Agenda 4 

Information Only 

16. 2025 AIRPORT CONSTRUCTION PROGRAM UPDATE – Jeff Kindschuh and Brad 
Beam, Airport Engineers 
The Commission will be briefed on the projects in the Airport Construction Program that were 
completed during 2025 and update on the year’s engineering efforts for Federal and State 
funded projects. 

Information Only 

17. 2025 UAS UPDATES – Doug Wood, State Manager for Advanced Air Mobility 
The Commission will be briefed on UAS activities and projects that occurred during 2025. 

Information Only 

18. AEROSPACE & AVIATION EDUCATION PROGRAM UPDATE – Paula Kedy, Statewide 
Aerospace STEM Education Manager 
A. Meeting with Enid Public Schools administrative team/completion of aircraft build –

January 7
B. Site visit/planning meeting with Mustang High School for Oklahoma Aviation State

Championship – January 9
C. Collaborative meeting with Flight Safety International for practice test that will be

administered at regional championships – January 14
D. Topping Out Ceremony for the new Oklahoma Aviation Academy/Norman Public Schools

– January 14
E. Preparatory meetings for Bessie Coleman Week to be held January 26-30

Information Only 

19. REVIEW OF AEROSPACE EVENTS AND ACTIVITIES – Sandra Shelton 
A. Elk City Ribbon Cutting – December 17
B. Tulsa Riverside Runway 13/31 Widening – December 23

Information Only 

20. Oklahoma Women in Aviation & Aerospace Day – Sandra Shelton 
The Commission will be briefed on the 2025 Women in Aviation & Aerospace Day event 
hosted at AAR in Oklahoma City on December 12th.  

Information Only 

21. PREVIEW OF UPCOMING AVIATION AND AEROSPACE EVENTS – Sandra Shelton 
The Commission will be briefed on upcoming events. 

Information Only 

22. DIRECTORS REPORT – Director Ardies 
A. NASAO Airports Committee Meeting – December 15
B. German Apprenticeship Debrief Meeting – December 19
C. UAS Summit, Tinker – January 12
D. Senate Budget Hearing – January 13
E. House Budget Hearing – January 20



Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | January 21, 2026 | Agenda 5 

Information Only 

23. POSSIBLE EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO 25 O.S. § 307(B)(4) AND
CONSISTENT WITH 2005 OK AG 29, ¶13, FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONFIDENTIAL
COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN THE BOARD AND COUNSEL FROM THE OKLAHOMA
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL CONCERNING HUTCHINSON VS. STATE,
Case No. 24-CV-00558-SH, in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Oklahoma, AND CITY OF GROVE AND THE GROVE MUNICIPAL AIRPORT TRUST,
WHERE COUNSEL HAS DETERMINED THAT DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION
RELATED TO LITIGATION WILL SERIOUSLY IMPAIR THE ABILITY OF THE BOARD
TO PROCESS OR CONDUCT LITIGATION IN THIS MATTER, PROVIDED THAT ANY
ACTION TAKEN SHALL BE IN OPEN SESSION. – Vice Chairman Phillips
A. Vote to Convene in Executive Session

Action Required 

B. Vote to Acknowledge Return to Open Session

Action Required 

C. Vote on Any Action Regarding Subject of the Proposed Executive Session

Action Required if Necessary 

24. CONCLUDING REMARKS REGARDING AGENDA ITEMS — Director Ardies and
Commissioners

25. ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING — Vice Chairman Phillips
The Commission will announce the date, time, and place for the next Commission meeting.

26. NEW BUSINESS (“any matter not known about, or which could not be reasonably
foreseen 24 hours before the meeting”)

27. ADJOURNMENT

This notice was posted prominently and publicly at the principal offices of the Oklahoma 
Department of Aerospace and Aeronautics at 110 N. Robinson, Suite 200, Oklahoma City, 
Oklahoma 73102, the Oklahoma Department of Transportation at 200 NE 21st Street, Oklahoma 
City, Oklahoma 73105, and the Oklahoma Department of Aerospace and Aeronautics website at 
9:00 a.m. Tuesday January 20, 2026.  

______________________________ 
Chris Wadsworth, Chief of Staff 

 01.20.2026 8:48 AM 



 
OKLAHOMA AEROSPACE AND AERONAUTICS COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 10, 2025 AT 9 AM 
OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FIRST FLOOR COMMISSION ROOM 
200 NE 21ST STREET, OKLAHOMA CITY, OK 

 
NOTE: The Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission may discuss, vote to approve, vote to 
disapprove, vote to table, decide not to discuss, or change the order of any item on the agenda. Any 
conflicts of interest must be disclosed prior to discussion, and the conflicted Commissioner must recuse 
from all discussion and votes pertaining to that item. 

 
DRAFT MINUTES  

 
1. ANNOUNCEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE OPEN MEETING ACT, FILING OF MEETING 

NOTICE, AND POSTING OF THE AGENDA — Chairman Blake Raney 
Pursuant to the Oklahoma Open Meeting Act, this meeting shall be held at the Oklahoma Department 
of Transportation (ODOT) First Floor Commission Room, 200 NE 21st Street in Oklahoma City, 
Oklahoma. 

 
The Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission Meeting is open to the general public, but 
it is also available to watch through the link listed below: 
To watch: 
Public access meeting link: https://video.ibm.com/channel/CKEfwftDGHz 
Make sure the volume on your PC (or other device) and the Ustream volume are turned up. 
 
The meeting will be electronically recorded, and audio livestreamed from 200 NE 21st St., 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73105. 
 
Public Access to complete Commission Packet: https://oklahoma.gov/aerospace  

 
2. CALL TO ORDER AND RECORDING OF MEMBERS PRESENT AND ABSENT — Chairman 

Raney and Adrienne Stroud, Executive Assistant 
 
Adrienne Stroud called roll and recorded the following Commissioners present and absent:  
 

https://video.ibm.com/channel/CKEfwftDGHz
https://oklahoma.gov/aerospace


 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 2 

Present  
Seth Phillips   Secretary (District 1)  
Kevin Potter   Vice Chairman (District 2)  
Lindy Ritz    Commissioner (District 4)  
Blake Raney   Chairman (District 5)  
Jim Putnam   Commissioner (At-Large)  
Jerry Hunter  Commissioner (At-Large) 
Craig Campbell   (House Appointed) 
Bailey J Siegfried (Senate Appointed) 
 
Absent  
 
Charles Ortega    Commissioner (District 3) 
 
The meeting was called to order at 9:01 a.m. with 8 of 9 Commissioners present. 
 
3. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE OKLAHOMA AEROSPACE AND 

AERONAUTICS COMMISSION MEETING ON OCTOBER 8, 2025 – Chairman Raney 
 

Commissioner Putnam made a motion to approve the minutes as presented. Commissioner 
Campbell seconded the motion. Chairman Raney called for the vote, and the votes were 
recorded as follows:  
 
Ayes - Commissioner Phillips 

Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz 
Chairman Raney 
Commissioner Putnam 
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell 

Nays –  
 
Abstain -  Commissioner Siegfried  
 
The motion carried 7-0. 

 
4. INTRODUCTION OF NEW COMMISSIONER– Chairman Raney  

The Commission was introduced to new Oklahoma Senate Appointed Commissioner Bailey 
J. Siegfried. 
 
 

5. ELECTION OF OFFICERS FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2026 – Chairman Raney  
Commissioner Ritz made a motion to approve Commissioner Potter as Chairman, 
Commissioner Phillips as Vice Chairman and Commissioner Campbell as Secretary to serve 
during the 2026 calendar year. Commissioner Putnam seconded the motion. 

 
Ayes - Commissioner Phillips 

Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz 
Chairman Raney 
Commissioner Putnam 
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell 



 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 3 

Commissioner Siegfried 
Nays –  
 
Abstain -    
 
The motion carried 8-0. 

 
6. LEGISLATIVE, CONGRESSIONAL AND REGULATORY UPDATE – Director Ardies 

and Sandra Shelton, Director of Government Affairs, Industry Development, and 
Communications 
The Commission was briefed on legislation and public policy issues concerning airports, 
aviation and aerospace and Commission legislative initiatives for the 2026 Legislative 
session. 

 
 

7. AIRPORT CONSTRUCTION GRANT PROGRAM CHANGE ORDER – Michelle 
Bouziden, Senior Project & Grants Manager  
A. The Commission was briefed on an amendment to state grant FDR-25-FS to construct 

a new box hangar at Frederick Regional Airport. The change order was necessary 
due to the addition of a restroom and to reconcile the final quantities. The estimated 
additional cost will be $12,387.23 and will be funded with $6,813 of federal grant funds, 
$4,955.49 of state grant funds and $618.74 of sponsor matching funds. 

B. The Commission was briefed on an amendment to state grant 1K8-25A-PREP for the 
terminal and hangar design at South Grand Lake Regional Airport (Ketchum). The 
change order was necessary due to the requirement of a State Fire Marshal Life Safety 
Plan Review. The estimated additional cost will be $2,958 and will be funded with 
$2,958 of PREP funds. 

C. The Commission was briefed on an amendment to state grant WWR-25A-PREP to 
construct a new terminal building and associated parking lot at West Woodward 
Airport. The change orders were necessary to relocate the AWOS to the new terminal 
building, allow for Cat6 cable drops, incorporate a control board to operate the 
Terminal’s electronic access doors and adds venting for the IT closet. The amendment 
will allow for a line-item adjustment and funding will be moved from testing and grant 
administration to cover the additional work. The amendment will not increase the 
Department’s previously approved share. 

D. The Commission was briefed on an amendment to state grant WWR-25B-PREP to 
construct a new large box hangar and associated parking lot at West Woodward 
Airport. The change order was necessary due to the water meter relocation and 
additional linear feet needed to reach the new location, the addition of a connection of 
an oil-water separator and to improve drainage conditions for the old hangar area. The 
amendment will allow for a line-item adjustment and funding will be moved from testing 
and grant administration to cover the additional work. The amendment will not increase 
the Department’s previously approved share. 

E. The Commission was briefed on an amendment to state grant WWR-25D-PREP for 
utilities to support the new terminal and hangar development at West Woodward 
Airport. The change order was necessary to reconcile the final cost of a previously 
approved change for the utility provider to bring service to the new south development 
area of the airport, as well as tap the water line and relocate the water meter to 
accommodate the entrance of the water line in the hangar office. The estimated 
additional cost will be $2,881.44 and will be funded with $2,881.44 of PREP funds. 

 



 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 4 

Information Only 
 

F. The Commission considered approving an amendment as part of the Department’s 
acting as agent role for the Oklahoma Space Industry Development Authority (OSIDA) 
and supporting their infrastructure investment plans for state grant CSM-25C-S for 
Phase 2 of the pavement rehab at Clinton-Sherman Airport (Burns Flat). The change 
order was necessary due to additional concrete work on Runway 17R/35L.The 
estimated additional cost will be $470,000 and will be funded with $470,000 of OSIDA’s 
PREP funds. 

 
Commissioner Ritz made a motion to approve the Airport Construction Grant Program Change 
Order item 7 (F). Commissioner Campbell seconded the motion. Chairman Raney called for the 
vote, and the votes were recorded as follows:  
 
Ayes -  Commissioner Phillips 

Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz  
Chairman Raney  
Commissioner Putnam  
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell  
Commissioner Bailey J. Siegfried 
 

Nays –  
 
The motion carried 8-0. 
 
8. FIVE-YEAR AIRPORT CONSTRUCTION PROGRAM – Nick Young, Airports Division 

Manager  
The Commission considered approving an amendment to the five-year Airport 
Construction Program (ACP) to add or modify projects at the following airports. Proposed 
projects are listed below. 

A. Cherokee Municipal – Construct (3) 50’ x 50’ Box Hangars (addition) 
B. Clarence E. Page Municipal – Construct (4) 50’ x 50’ Hangars (addition) 
C. Durant Regional - Eaker Field – Construct ATC Tower (addition) 
D. El Reno Regional – Construct 10-unit Interconnected Box Hangars (addition) 
E. Holdenville Municipal - Construct (3) 50’ x 50’ Box Hangars (addition)  

 
Commissioner Hunter made a motion to approve the Airport Construction Program (Items A-E). 
Commissioner Putnam seconded the motion. Chairman Raney called for the vote, and the votes 
were recorded as follows:  
 
Ayes -  Commissioner Phillips 

Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz  
Chairman Raney  
Commissioner Putnam  
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell  
Commissioner Bailey J. Siegfried 
 

Nays –  



 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 5 

 
The motion carried 8-0. 

 
9. AIRPORT CONSTRUCTION GRANT PROGRAM – Nick Young, Airports Division 

Manager 
Any Commissioner may request that any or all of these items be considered individually. 

A. The Commission considered approving a state grant for a project that is currently 
identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at Anadarko 
Municipal Airport. The project consists of rehabilitating the airfield pavement. Based on 
bids, the total project cost is $389,115.08 and will be funded with $369,659.33 of state 
grant funds and $19,455.75 of sponsor matching funds. An approval is contingent upon 
the Department receiving an acceptable grant application. 

B. The Commission considered approving design costs for a project that is currently 
identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at Clarence E 
Page Airport. The project consists of construct 4 interconnected box hangars. The 
estimated cost for the design phase of the project is $113,028 and will be funded with 
$45,211 of state grant funds and $67,817 of sponsor matching funds. 

C. The Commission considered approving a project that is currently identified in the 
Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at Durant Regional – Eaker 
Field. The project consists of an air traffic control tower siting study. Based on bids, the 
total project cost is $257,522.25 and will be funded with $257,522.25 of legislative 
directed state grant funds. An approval is contingent upon the Department receiving an 
acceptable grant application. 

D. The Commission considered approving a state grant for a project that is currently 
identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at Guthrie-
Edmond Regional Airport. The project consists of acquiring two parcels of land. Based 
on appraised values, the total project cost is $1,612,480 and will be funded with 
$740,000 of federal grant funds, $791,856 of state grant funds, and $80,624 of sponsor 
matching funds. An approval is contingent upon the Department receiving an acceptable 
grant application. 

E. The Commission considered approving design costs for a project that is currently 
identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at Hollis 
Municipal Airport. The project consists of rehabilitating the runway pavement. The 
estimated cost for the design phase of the project is $48,300 and will be funded with 
$45,885 of state grant funds and $2,415 of sponsor matching funds. 

F. The Commission considered approving a state grant for a project that is currently 
identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at Stillwater 
Regional Airport. The project consists of constructing a parking lot adjacent to the new 
terminal. Based on bids, the total project cost is $680,508 and will be funded with 
$646,482 of state grant funds and $34,026 of sponsor matching funds. An approval is 
contingent upon the Department receiving an acceptable grant application. 

G. The Commission considered approving a design grant for a project that is currently 
identified in the Department’s approved Airport Construction Program at Watonga 
Regional Airport. The project consists of constructing a new terminal building and 
supporting utilities and access road. The estimated cost for the design phase of the 
project is $255,600 and will be funded with $255,600 of legislative directed state grant 
funds. An approval is contingent upon the Department receiving an acceptable grant 
application. 
 



 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 6 

Commissioner Campbell made a motion to approve the Airport Construction Grant Program (Items 
A-G). Commissioner Hunter seconded the motion. Chairman Raney called for the vote, and the 
votes were recorded as follows:  
 
Ayes -  Commissioner Phillips 

Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz  
Chairman Raney  
Commissioner Putnam  
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell  
Commissioner Bailey J. Siegfried 
 

Nays –  
 
The motion carried 8-0. 
 
10. PROGRESSING RURAL ECONOMIC PROSPERITY (PREP) FUND UPDATE – Director 

Ardies 
The Commission was briefed on PREP funds allocated for certain infrastructure projects at 
Oklahoma airports. 

 
11. CLINTON-SHERMAN CONTRACT – Nick Young, Airports Division Manager 

The Commission considered approving staff to enter into a contract for the design of the 
hangar and associated facilities for the state owned Dawn Aerospace Mark-IIB Aurora 
spaceplane as part of the Department’s acting as agent role for the Oklahoma Space 
Industry Development Authority (OSIDA) and supporting their infrastructure investment 
plans for the Clinton-Sherman Airport. Total project cost will be $490,900 and will be funded 
with $490,900 of PREP funds from OSIDA. 
 

Commissioner Phillips made a motion to approve the Clinton-Sherman Contract. Commissioner Ritz 
seconded the motion. Chairman Raney called for the vote, and the votes were recorded as follows:  
 
Ayes -  Commissioner Phillips 

Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz  
Chairman Raney  
Commissioner Putnam  
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell  
Commissioner Bailey J. Siegfried 
 

Nays –  
 
The motion carried 8-0. 
 
12. CONTRACT AMENDMENT WITH VIGILANT AEROSPACE SYSTEMS, Director Ardies 

The Commission considered approving a contract amendment with Vigilant Aerospace 
Systems, Inc. for radar infrastructure in Western Oklahoma. The additional cost of phase 1 
will be $13,500 and the additional cost of phase 2 will be $53,600 for a total of $67,100.  
 



 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 7 

Commissioner Siegfried made a motion to approve the Contract Amendment with Vigilant. 
Commissioner Ritz seconded the motion. Chairman Raney called for the vote, and the votes were 
recorded as follows:  
 
Ayes -  Commissioner Phillips 

Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz  
Chairman Raney  
Commissioner Putnam  
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell  
Commissioner Bailey J. Siegfried 
 

Nays –  
 
The motion carried 8-0. 

 
13. AEROSPACE & AVIATION EDUCATION PROGRAM UPDATE – Paula Kedy, Statewide 

Aerospace STEM Education Manager 
The Commission was briefed on the following education program updates: 

A. River Valley Workforce Development Summit/Sallisaw – October 10 
B. Fly Forward: Search and Rescue Championship – October 21 
C. School Visits – Choteau/Mazie 10/27; Navajo 10/30; Coleman 11/3; Valliant 11/5; 

Mosely 11/10; Deer Creek Edmond 12/9 
D. Oklahoma State University Women in Aviation Meeting – November 4 
E. McAlester Chamber of Commerce Workforce Meeting – November 6 
F. AOPA National Aviation STEM Symposium/Indianapolis – November 16-18 
G. Meeting with Eastern State College President – November 20 
H. Chickasaw Nation Secretary of Education – November 24 
I. Southeastern University/Durant Public Schools Planning Meeting for Southern 

Oklahoma Aero Day – December 4 
J. Informal Aviation Pathway Results  
 

 
14. 2026 SPONSORSHIPS AND MEMBERSHIPS CONSENT DOCKET - Sandra Shelton 

Any Commissioner may request that any or all of these items be considered individually. 
A. Tulsa Tech Maintenance Team  

The Commission considered approving a $5,000 sponsorship for the students of 
Tulsa Tech Aviation Academy Maintenance Team to travel and compete in the 2026 
Aerospace Maintenance Competition at the MRO Americas Conference in Orlando, 
FL, April 20-23, 2026. 

B. Oklahoma Airport Operators Association 
The Commission considered renewing its annual membership in the Oklahoma 
Airport Operators Association for calendar year 2026 and serving as a sponsor for 
the OAOA Annual Conference to be held March 8-11, in Ardmore, OK. The cost 
is $6,500. 

C. Select Oklahoma 
The Commission considered approving a $2,500 membership to Select Oklahoma 
for calendar year 2026.  

D. Aero Oklahoma Day 



 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 8 

The Commission considered approving up to $10,000 for sponsorship of Aero 
Oklahoma Day at the Capitol scheduled for April 1, 2026, from 9:30 a.m. – 2:00 
p.m. 

 
Commissioner Putnam made a motion to approve the 2026 Sponsorships and Memberships 
Consent Docket. Commissioner Siegfried seconded the motion. Chairman Raney called for the vote, 
and the votes were recorded as follows:  
 
Ayes -  Commissioner Phillips 

Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz  
Chairman Raney  
Commissioner Putnam  
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell  
Commissioner Bailey J. Siegfried 
 

Nays –  
 
The motion carried 8-0. 

 
15. PARTNERSHIPS WITH THE OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE FOR 2026 

CONFERENCES AND TRADE SHOWS CONSENT DOCKET – Sandra Shelton  
Any Commissioner may request that any or all of these items be considered individually. 

A. MRO AMERICAS CONFERENCE 
The Commission considered approving a $5,000 partnership/sponsorship with the 
Oklahoma Department of Commerce for a state exhibit booth at the MRO Americas 
Conference, April 21-23, 2026, in Orlando, FL.  

B. ASSOCIATION FOR UNCREWED VEHICLE SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL 
(AUVSI) XPONENTIAL 
The Commission considered approving a $5,000 partnership/sponsorship with the 
Oklahoma Department of Commerce for a state exhibit booth at the AUVSI 
XPONENTIAL Conference & Expo, May 12-14, 2026, in Detroit, MI.  

C. FARNBOROUGH INTERNATIONAL AIRSHOW 
The Commission considered approving a $10,000 partnership/sponsorship with the 
Oklahoma Department of Commerce and other Oklahoma-based companies and 
organizations for a state exhibit booth at the Farnborough International Airshow, July 
20-24, 2026 in Farnborough, Hampshire, UK.  

D. EXPERIMENTAL AIRCRAFT ASSOCIATION (EAA) AIRVENTURE/OSHKOSH 
The Commission considered approving a $7,500 partnership/sponsorship with the 
Oklahoma Department of Commerce for a state exhibit booth at the EAA AirVenture 
event in Oshkosh, WI, July 20-26, 2026.  

E. NATIONAL BUSINESS AVIATION ASSOCIATION – BUSINESS AVIATION 
CONFERENCE & EXPO (NBAA-BACE) 
The Commission considered approving a $5,000 partnership/sponsorship with the 
Oklahoma Department of Commerce for a state exhibit booth at the NBAA-BACE, 
Oct. 20-22, 2026, in Las Vegas, NV.  

 
Commissioner Ritz made a motion to approve Partnerships with Ok Dept of Commerce 2026 
Conferences and Trade Shows Consent Docket. Commissioner Campbell seconded the motion. 
Chairman Raney called for the vote, and the votes were recorded as follows:  
 



 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 9 

Ayes -  Commissioner Phillips 
Commissioner Potter 
Commissioner Ritz  
Chairman Raney  
Commissioner Putnam  
Commissioner Hunter 
Commissioner Campbell  
Commissioner Bailey J. Siegfried 
 

Nays –  
 
The motion carried 8-0. 

 
16. REVIEW OF AEROSPACE CONFERENCES AND TRADESHOWS – Director Ardies and 

Sandra Shelton  
The Commission was briefed on the following conferences and tradeshows: 

A. National Business Aviation Association, October 14-16 
B. Oklahoma Aerospace Forum, November 5 
 

 
17. REVIEW OF AEROSPACE EVENTS AND ACTIVITIES – Director Ardies and Sandra 

Shelton 
The Commission was briefed on the following events and activities: 

A. Ardmore Downtown Terminal Groundbreaking, October 22 
B. McAlester Regional Terminal Celebration, October 24 
C. Hooker Fuel System Ribbon Cutting, November 17 
D. Guymon Hangar Groundbreaking, November 17 

 
 
18. PREVIEW OF UPCOMING AVIATION AND AEROSPACE EVENTS – Sandra Shelton 

The Commission was briefed on upcoming events. 
 
 

19. DIRECTORS REPORT – Director Ardies 
A. City of Stillwater – October 20 
B. Germany Apprenticeship Trade Delegation Visit – October 26-31 

 
 
20. CONCLUDING REMARKS REGARDING AGENDA ITEMS — Director Ardies and 

Commissioners 
 
21. ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING — Chairman Raney 
 The Commission will announce the date, time, and place for the next Commission meeting. 
 
22. NEW BUSINESS (“any matter not known about, or which could not be reasonably 

foreseen 24 hours before the meeting”) 
 
23. ADJOURNMENT 
 
This notice was posted prominently and publicly at the principal offices of the Oklahoma 
Department of Aerospace and Aeronautics at 110 N. Robinson, Suite 200, Oklahoma City, 



 

Oklahoma Aerospace and Aeronautics Commission | December 10, 2025 | Agenda 10 

Oklahoma 73102, the Oklahoma Department of Transportation at 200 NE 21st Street, Oklahoma 
City, Oklahoma 73105, and the Oklahoma Department of Aerospace and Aeronautics website at 
8:30 a.m. Tuesday October 7, 2025.  
 
______________________________  
Grayson Ardies, Executive Director      
                      10.07.2025 8:00 AM 



CASH BALANCES:
Fund 19501 (FY25 Appropriation) 1,499,866.07
Fund 19402 (FY26 Appropriation) 11,169,822.27
Fund 20000 (Revolving Fund) 17,771,159.67
Fund 21500 (Long-Term Infrastructure Fund) 3,483,041.22
Fund 40000 (Federal Reimbursement Fund) 1,073,945.00

                                                                                                                Total Cash $34,997,834.23
ENCUMBRANCES:  
Operations and IT 697,071.91
Aviation Education 1,492,405.44
UAS/AAM 1,888,868.17
Fund 400 FAA Grants 517,821.96
Airport Construction Program 32,578,653.31

                                                                                                    Total Encumbered ($37,174,820.79)
UNENCUMBERED CASH BALANCE: ($2,176,986.56)

REMAINING EXPECTED REVENUE FOR FY 2026:
Balance of 3 Yr. Average of Estimated Aircraft Excise Tax 5,599,286.69
Balance of 3 Yr. Average of Estimated  Aircraft Registration Fees & Fuel Tax 502,156.03
APPPA Permit Fees 1,000.00

                                             Total Remaining Expected Revenue for FY 2026 $6,102,442.72

REMAINING EXPECTED REIMBURSEMENTS:
Sponsor Reimbursements on State Grants              7,400,194.72
FAA Grant Reimbursements 1,034,551.00

                                             Total Remaining Expected Reimbursements for FY 2026 $8,551,290.32

REMAINING POSSIBLE ENCUMBRANCES FOR FY 2026:
Airport Construction Program (FY 2026 granted, but not yet fully executed) 413,220.92
Airport Construction Program (programmed for FY 2026 - not yet granted) 13,333,065.00
Operations/Aviation Education/UAS (budgeted but not encumbered/spent) 3,562,008.73

                                     Total Remaining Possible Encumbrances for FY 2026 ($17,308,294.65)

AVAILABLE CASH AFTER ENCUMBRANCES & EXPECTED INCOME: ($4,831,548.17)

YTD EXPENDITURES DURING FY 2026:
Operations and IT 708,875.81
Aviation Education 1,030,729.00
UAS/AAM 2,227,824.52
Airport Construction Program 17,388,394.90

                                                                           Total YTD Expenditures During FY 2026 $21,355,824.23

     COMPLETION TIME OF PROJECTS ON THIS WORKPAPER ARE SPECULATED FOR ILLUSTRATION TO THE COMMISSION.

Oklahoma Department of Aerospace & Aeronautics
Financial Summary as of 12/31/25

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

FY2016 Deposited Cash Balance vs. Encumbrances

Cash balance

Encumbered Funds

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

FY2018 Deposited Cash Balance vs. Encumbrances

Cash balance

Encumbered Funds

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

FY2016 Deposited Cash Balance vs. Encumbrances

Cash balance

Encumbered Funds

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

FY2019 Deposited Cash Balance vs. Encumbrances

Cash balance

Encumbered Funds

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

FY2016 Deposited Cash Balance vs. Encumbrances

Cash balance

Encumbered Funds

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

FY2018 Deposited Cash Balance vs. Encumbrances

Cash balance

Encumbered Funds

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

FY2016 Deposited Cash Balance vs. Encumbrances

Cash balance

Encumbered Funds

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

40,000,000

45,000,000

50,000,000

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

FY 2026 Deposited Cash Balance vs. Encumbrances

Cash balance

Encumbered Funds



YTD YTD
   Received Comparison

Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June FY 2026 FY 2025

200 STATUTORY REVENUE:

423453 Speciality License Plate 1,296.00 624.00 936.00 984.00 912.00 888.00 5,640.00 6,696.00

415509 Gasoline Excise Tax 8,818.70 9,171.78 8,662.53 8,437.59 8,874.13 8,133.09 52,097.82 48,768.70

417171 Aircraft Excise Tax 2,182.00 1,633,945.00 126,100.00 993,977.02 156,631.68 546,983.28 3,459,818.98 7,332,139.00

428101 Aircraft Registration Fees 1,075.63 13,502.40 530.59 45,476.55 17,210.53 301,835.67 379,631.37 101,076.65

428199 APPPA Permit Fee 200.00 0.00 0.00 4,800.00 200.00 2,200.00 7,400.00 1,400.00

454102 Funds Previously Disbursed - Cities 0.00 174,857.60 826,220.52 336.00 3,984,134.75 282,358.43 5,267,907.30 18,587.38

458101 
&

479199
Funds Previously Disbursed - Misc 0.00 760.00 0.00 78.00 4,138.40 0.00 4,976.40 18,231.89

458105 Funds Previously Disbursed - GCR 5,400.00 0.00 6,515.78 0.00 14,400.00 0.00 26,315.78 69,049.30

TOTAL STATUTORY REVENUE 18,972.33 1,832,860.78 968,965.42 1,054,089.16 4,186,501.49 1,142,398.47 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,203,787.65 7,595,948.92

400 FEDERAL FUNDS:

455101 FAA Reimbursement Draws 0.00 0.00 251,776.00 0.00 0.00 84,514.00 336,290.00 212,794.00
 

TOTAL FEDERAL FUNDS 0.00 0.00 251,776.00 0.00 0.00 84,514.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 336,290.00 212,794.00

GRAND TOTAL: ALL FUNDS 18,972.33 1,832,860.78 1,220,741.42 1,054,089.16 4,186,501.49 1,226,912.47 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,540,077.65 7,808,742.92

FY 2026 OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF AEROSPACE & AERONAUTICS COLLECTED REVENUE BY MONTH & SOURCE

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

4,000,000

4,500,000

Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

FY 2026 Collected Statutory Revenue



July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June Totals

FY 2023 666,796 167,776 464,676 1,007,709 2,108,923 580,632 1,659,987 245,228 768,137 1,264,115 192,689 832,412 $9,959,081
FY 2024 255,275 796,231 927,939 530,593 842,553 1,116,136 2,247,779 584,011 1,119,157 202,216 202,212 271,282 $9,095,384
FY 2025 440,691 74,581 414,996 1,086,034 1,006,846 4,465,532 1,860,059 68,876 756,743 21,992 845,871 46,211 $11,088,432
Totals 1,362,762 1,038,589 1,807,611 2,624,336 3,958,322 6,162,300 5,767,825 898,115 2,644,038 1,488,323 1,240,772 1,149,904

3 Year average 454,254 346,196 602,537 874,779 1,319,441 2,054,100 1,922,608 299,372 881,346 496,108 413,591 383,301 $10,047,632

FY 2026 13,372 1,657,243 136,229 1,048,875 183,628 857,840 $3,897,188

Chart 3 Yr Avg. Cum 454,254 800,450 1,402,987 2,277,766 3,597,207 5,651,307
Chart FY 2026 Cum 13,372 1,670,616 1,806,845 2,855,720 3,039,348 3,897,188

FY 2026 vs. 3 Year Average Collected Statutory Revenue Comparison

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

FY2018 vs. 3-Year Average Statutory Revenue Collected

Chart 3 Yr Avg. Cum

Chart FY 2026 Cum

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

FY 2026 vs. 3-Year Average Statutory Revenue Collected

Chart 3 Yr Avg. Cum

Chart FY 2026 Cum



$61,407,461

$29,320,361

$9,622,178

PREP Funds

Spent Encumbered Remaining

$3,037,853

$8,247,266

$29,714,881

FY 2025 Legislative Directed Projects

Spent Encumbered Remaining



1 
 

TITLE 25. OKLAHOMA DEPARTMENT OF AEROSPACE AND AERONAUTICS 
CHAPTER 15. AIRPORT CONSTRUCTION PROGRAM 

25:15-1-1. Purpose 
The purpose of this chapter is to set forth the requirement for participation in the airport 
grant program administered by the Oklahoma Department of Aerospace and 
Aeronautics, and to establish the procedures to be followed by the Department in the 
administration and enforcement of its duties under Title 3, Oklahoma Statues, Section 
81-93 and Title 68, Oklahoma Statues, Section 6003.1. 

25:15-1-2. Definitions 
The following words or terms, when used in this Chapter, shall have the following 
meaning, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 
   "Administrative official" means an official of the airport sponsor who is 
authorized to legally bind the airport sponsor. 
   "Airport Construction Program" means a list of airport construction projects 
approved by the Commission for implementation within a five-year programming horizon 
showing a description of the project, the cost of each phase of the project, when the 
project is expected to occur, and the sources of funding. 
   "Airport Development Worksheet" means a listing of the capital infrastructure 
projects needed at an airport over a twenty-year planning horizon together with the 
estimated cost, construction type, and airport component for each project. Projects 
identified for a particular airport must be consistent with the service level, functional 
classification, design standard, and airport reference code identified for the airport in the 
Oklahoma Airport System Plan. An airport development worksheet is developed and 
maintained for each system plan airport that is not part of the National Plan of 
Integrated Airport Systems (NPIAS) cooperatively by the airport sponsor and the 
Department staff. 
   "Airport layout plan/drawing" means the basic plan for the layout of an airport 
that shows, at a minimum, the present boundaries of the airport, the areas that the 
airport sponsor owns or controls for airport purposes, and any proposed areas that will 
be acquired by the airport sponsor in the future. It will include the location and nature of 
existing and proposed airport facilities such as runways, taxiways, aprons, terminal 
buildings, hangars, roads, and other vital airport infrastructure items. Also, it will provide 
the location of existing and proposed uses of property under control by the airport 
sponsor. The full airport layout plan-set is a combination of many pages of documents, 
including items such as instrument approach path details, terminal area maps, property 
maps, and the page that is identified as the airport layout drawing. Not every airport will 
have a full plan-set and may only have an airport layout drawing which will detail most 
of the above information on a single page drawing. 
   "Airport Sponsor" or "Municipality" is used interchangeably throughout this 
chapter. Either term means any incorporated city, village, or town of this state, any 
public institution of higher education, and any county or political subdivision or district of 
this state, or any public trust thereof, which is, or may be, authorized by law to acquire, 
establish, construct, maintain, improve, and operate airports, airstrips, and aeronautical 
facilities. To be eligible for the state grant program, the airport sponsor must be one of 



2 
 

the governmental entities referenced in the preceding sentence and included in the 
Oklahoma Airport System Plan that has been adopted by the Commission. Nothing 
herein precludes two or more of these entities from acting jointly as an airport sponsor. 
In the event a public trust is the airport sponsor, the beneficiary of that public trust must 
also be a record owner of the airport property. 
   "Airport Sponsor Matching Share" means any funds provided by the airport, 
municipality or public trust, or any other source of funding that is not FAA. 
   "Commission" means the seven members of the Oklahoma Aerospace and 
Aeronautics Commission as appointed by the governor. 
   "Department" means the Oklahoma Department of Aerospace and Aeronautics, 
the state agency responsible for administering airport grant programs for the State of 
Oklahoma and the Federal Aviation Administration. 
   "Emergency" means a condition that could not have been foreseen and which 
affects the safety of the airport sufficiently that the airport or runway may need to be 
closed if the situation is not remedied. 
   "FAA" means the Federal Aviation Administration, a unit of the U.S. Department 
of Transportation. 
   "Letter of Interest" means a letter expressing the desire of an airport sponsor to 
have one or more projects included in the Airport Construction Program. 
   "Non- Primary Entitlement (NPE) funds" means FAA Airport Improvement 
Program (AIP) funds set aside for general aviation airports listed in the National Plan of 
Integrated Airport Systems. 
   "Notification Letter" means correspondence prepared by the Department staff 
informing an airport sponsor that one or more of their projects have advanced to the 
current year of the Airport Construction Program. The letter sets forth the terms the 
Department imposes on airport sponsors participating in the state grant program, 
describes the project, authorizes the airport sponsor to begin engineering work for the 
project and directs the sponsor to prepare a grant application once project bids have 
been received. 
   "Oklahoma Airport System Plan" means the plan, adopted by the Commission, 
which identifies the airports included in the State's airport system and identifies the 
service level, functional classification, design standard, and airport reference code for 
each system airport. 
   "Project Sketch" means the sketch shown in color the area and location of 
proposed construction or rehabilitation work for the accompanying construction grant 
application. 
 
25:15-1-3. Planning 
(a)  Planning and Programming Process. 

(1)  The Department staff shall, in consultation with airport sponsors, prepare and 
maintain the Oklahoma Airport System Plan. The Commission shall adopt and 
approve changes to the plan. 
(2)  The Department staff shall assist publicly owned, publicly used airports in 
identifying airport needs and deficiencies. Airport sponsors eligible to participate 
in grant or loan programs are sponsors of publicly owned, public use airports 
included in the Oklahoma Airport System Plan. The Department staff shall, in 



3 
 

consultation with each airport sponsor, prepare and maintain an airport 
development worksheet for each airport included in the Oklahoma Airport System 
Plan. The airport development worksheet shall be reviewed and updated at least 
once every three years. The airport development worksheet shall identify the 
capital projects needed at the airport over a 20 year planning horizon, together 
with the estimated cost, construction type, objective code, and airport component 
for each project. The identified projects shall be consistent with the service level, 
functional classification, design standard, and airport reference code identified for 
the airport in the Oklahoma Airport System Plan. 
(3)  The Department staff shall, in consultation with airport sponsors, prepare and 
update annually the Airport Construction Program. The Commission shall 
approve the Airport Construction Program. 

(b)  Airport Construction Program Content. 
(1)  The Airport Construction Program shall contain a list of proposed State and 
FAA funded projects that can be implemented with forecast revenues within the 
five year programming horizon. 
(2)  Projects included for an airport in the Airport Construction Program shall be 
consistent with service level, functional classification, design standard, and 
airport reference code identified for the airport in the Oklahoma Airport System 
Plan. 
(3)  The Airport Construction Program shall show the proposed sources of 
funding for each project. 
(4)  The Airport Construction Program shall show the proposed implementation 
schedule for each project. 
(5)  The Airport Construction Program shall include other priorities, policies, and 
procedures as adopted by the Commission. 

(c)  Airport Construction Program Projects. 
(1)  To be included in the Airport Construction Program a project must be eligible 
to receive airport grant or loan funding from the Department. To be eligible a 
project must be conducted on active public-use areas of an airport or to support 
those public-use areas of an airport. Types of projects considered eligible are 
listed below: 

(A)  Maintenance: this type of work is limited to pavement maintenance of 
runways, taxiways, and aprons and can include routine cleaning, filling, or 
sealing of cracks/joints, maintenance of pavement drainage systems, 
patching pavement, and remarking of the above mentioned pavement 
areas. Items not considered maintenance are applying herbicide to 
prevent grass encroachment, mowing of airport grass, FOD sweeping, 
replacing light bulbs, replacing light fixtures due to damage from a 
manmade source, re-topping of trees that had been previously topped in a 
Department project, and other similar type activities. 
(B)  Rehabilitation: this type of work is a more comprehensive restoration 
of an item to its original functionality. Items such as pavement sealcoats, 
overlays, reclamation, replacement of an entire set of lighting fixtures, 
refurbishment/remodel and expansion of a terminal building, refurbishment 



4 
 

of a sponsor owned hangar would be considered a project under the 
rehabilitation category. 
(C)  Reconstruction: this type of work is a complete restoration of an item 
to its original functionality once it has reached the end of its useful life. 
This results in a virtually new piece of pavement, electrical system, or 
building. 
(D)  New Construction/Installation: this type of work would construct new 
pavement such as a runway widening or extension, hangar taxiway area, 
or apron expansion, or construct new structures such a terminal building 
or hangar, or construct new drainage structures to support the removal of 
water from the airport. This work item would also include the installation of 
new navigational aids that weren't previously at an airport such a precision 
approach path indicator, runway edge lighting, omnidirectional approach 
light system, weather observation system, or similar item. 
(E)  Planning/Design: this type of work includes the engineer design and 
associated support work with any of the eligible project types. This could 
also include planning projects such as master plans, airport layout plans, 
specialty planning studies, and obstruction/approach surveys. 
(F)  Off-airport: this type of work is typically for the support of on-airport 
operations. This work item could include items such as obstruction 
removal, land acquisition, drainage improvements, relocation of roads and 
utilities, installation of navigational aids, or similar projects. 

(2)  The following are three basic tests that must be met to determine if a project 
is justified for inclusion in the Airport Construction Program: 

(A)  The project advances Department policy laid out in 3 O.S. § 85 and 
the adopted Oklahoma Airport System Plan. The basic goals and 
objectives in these policies include airport safety, security, economic 
enhancement, and capacity, meeting FAA or Department standards, 
preserving and improving airport infrastructure that is for the use and 
benefit of the public, airport planning, and other similar projects. 
(B)  The Department must determine if there is an actual need for the 
project at the airport within the five-year horizon. 
(C)  The project scope is appropriate. The Department must determine 
that all the elements of the project are necessary to obtain the project 
scope's overall goal. Any elements that do not meet this criteria must 
stand on their own separate merit and justification. 

(3)  For hangar construction projects, special selection criteria and requirements 
will be implemented to include the following: 

(A)  Preference will be given to hangar projects which will support new 
businesses, expansion/enhancement of existing on-airport businesses, 
and new aircraft being brought to the state.  Preference will also be given 
to hangar projects which help an airport sponsor increase their based 
aircraft for potential inclusion into the NPIAS or to attain classified status 
within the NPIAS. 
(B)   An airport sponsor must show a valid hangar waiting list for those 
potential occupants of the hangars to be constructed or an acceptable 



5 
 

plan on how they will advertise for the available hangar space once 
constructed. 
(C)  Airport sponsors will need to provide a plan to charge fair market 
aeronautical rates for hangars that are constructed as a part of this 
program. 

(4)  For a project to be considered for inclusion in the Airport Construction 
Program, the airport sponsor must submit a letter of interest to the Department 
detailing the basic scope and estimated cost of the project that they want to have 
included in the Airport Construction Program. 

(d)  Airport Construction Program Development. 
(1)  The Airport Construction Program lists projects for which expenditures are 
expected to begin within the five year programming horizon. 
(2)  On a two-year cycle, the Department staff shall update the NPIAS needs 
database and the ADWS database (for Non-NPIAS airports). To update the 
Department's database, sponsors will use FAA's Overall Development Objective 
(ODO) data sheet or similar document for each requested project. 
(3)  The Department staff shall evaluate projects in the NPIAS and ADWS 
databases and recommend projects for inclusion in the Airport Construction 
Program based on: 

(A)  Airport system development priorities, policies, and procedures 
adopted by the Commission and/or the FAA. 
(B)  Multi-year on-going projects that are currently identified in the 
approved Airport Construction Program will be given higher priority during 
the development of the Airport Construction Program. 
(C)  The airport's pavement condition index, pavement life-cycle 
consideration as developed by the pavement management program. 
(D)  The National Priority Rating System developed by FAA and included 
in FAA's Order 5090.5 titled "Formulation of the National Plan of 
Integrated Airport Systems (NPIAS) and the Airports Capital Improvement 
Plan (ACIP)". 
(E)  The amount of aviation activity, the types of airplanes served, the 
numbers of based airplanes at the airport, and the population included in 
the airport's service area. 
(F)  Other factors as may be relevant (for example, the services provided 
at the airport, the sponsor's demonstrated ability to maintain and operate 
the airport, the sponsor's ability to address safety inspection deficiencies, 
etc.) 
(G)  An emergency project request, with verifiable justification, may be 
submitted to the Department for inclusion in the Airport Construction 
Program at any time. 

(4)  The five year programming horizon of the Airport Construction Program shall 
be broken down into three general time periods (Appendix A): near-term 
program, transition year, and the extended program. 

(A)  Near-term program: This shall be the current year plus years two and 
three. Projects in this time period are considered to be of low flexibility. 



6 
 

(B)  Transition year: This shall be year four. Projects in this time period are 
considered to be of moderate flexibility. 
(C)  Extended program: This shall be year five. Projects in this time period 
are considered to be flexible. 

 
25:15-1-4. Programming Implementation Airport Grant and Loan Program 
Requirements and Procedures 
(a)  Contingency. Implementation of an airport grant program or loan program is 
contingent upon funding being available to the Department for this purpose. 
(b)  Notification to Proceed. 

(1)  As funding becomes available, the Department staff shall send a notification 
letter to each airport sponsor that has a capital project included in the approved 
Airport Construction Program as described in 25:15-1-3. 
(2)  The notification letter shall: 

(A)  Advise the airport sponsor of the proposed cost sharing for the project 
and identify project development items eligible for funding. 
(B)  Authorize or direct the airport sponsor to: 

(i)  confirm in writing within 30 days the airport sponsor's intention 
to proceed with the project as programmed; 
(ii)  select an engineering consultant and provide a copy of the 
contract entered into with the consultant; 
(iii)  prepare project plans and specifications and to coordinate the 
project design with the Department staff; 
(iv)  prepare to meet the federal and state administrative 
requirements depending upon the proposed funding sources; 
(v)  provide updated project costs after the final design is 
completed; 
(vi)  proceed to bid when directed by the Department's staff; and 
(vii)  submit a grant application for the Department's consideration 
and approval. 

(c)  Grant Application or Loan Application; General Information. 
(1)  The airport sponsor shall submit a complete grant or loan application for a 
capital project for: 

(A)  Reimbursement of the cost of planning and engineering; and/or 
(B)  Reimbursement for the cost of construction based on the bids 
received by the airport sponsor. 

(2)  The airport sponsor's administrative official must sign the grant or loan 
application form(s). If the administration and/or operation of the airport is 
performed by a Trust, the Chairman of the Trust must also sign the grant or loan 
application. 
(3)  The Department shall consider all grant or loan applications in accordance 
with 25:15-1-3(c). 
(4)  Reimbursement for the cost of engineering is contingent upon submission of 
the final set of plans and specifications to the Department staff. 

(d)  Grant or Loan Application; Funding Information. 



7 
 

(1)  Each airport sponsor must state in its application that it has on hand funds to 
pay all estimated costs of the proposed project that are not borne by the 
Department or any other state or federal agency. As part of this requirement, 
each airport sponsor is required to provide written verification in the grant or loan 
application (designated as Exhibit E) to the Department that the airports 
sponsor's share of the project has been reserved in an account that will be used 
for defraying the costs of the project. 
(2)  If any of the funds for the project are to be furnished by another state or 
federal agency, the airport sponsor must provide evidence that the funds are 
available with the grant or loan application. 

(e)  Information Regarding State Level of Participation and Required Matches. 
(1)  For state grants, the maximum level of participation for the Department shall 
not exceed 95 percent. The airport sponsor is required to provide a minimum of 5 
percent of the project funding for the airport sponsor matching share.  
(2)  For FAA grants for projects identified in the Department's Airport Construction 
Program, the Department may provide half of the match that is required from the 
airport sponsor. 
(3)  For FAA grants for projects identified in the Department's Airport Construction 
Program, the Department may provide supplemental state grant funding for 
project items. The maximum level of participation for the Department in such 
supplemental funding shall not exceed 95 percent. The airport sponsor is 
required to provide a minimum of 5 percent of the supplemental project funding 
for the airport sponsor matching share. 
(4)  For non-primary entitlement (NPE) grants or special federal earmarks not 
identified in the Department's Airport Construction Program, the Department will 
not provide half the match that is required from the airport sponsor. If NPE grant 
funds are transferred from other airport sponsors to an airport sponsor for a 
project identified in the Department's Airport Construction Program, the 
Department may assist with half of any required match from the receiving airport 
sponsor so long as it will save the Department state funds. 
(5)  For terminal building projects, the Department's maximum cost-share level 
shall be 50 percent and shall not exceed $1,000,000. The airport sponsor is 
required to provide a dollar-for-dollar airport sponsor matching share for every 
dollar the Department provides. Remaining share to complete the project could 
come from any available source.  New construction or complete reconstruction of 
an existing terminal building are considered eligible projects under this item.  At 
the Department’s sole discretion a rehabilitation and expansion of a terminal 
building may also be considered as eligible under this item. 
(6)  For hangar construction projects, the Department may provide funding via 
grant or loan. Priority shall be given to construction of new hangars, but the 
Department may consider rehabilitation of existing sponsor owned hangars if it 
enhances the longevity of the hangars and provides for additional revenue for the 
airport.      

(A)  For state grants the Department's maximum cost-share level of 
participation shall not exceed 40 percent. The airport sponsor is required 
to provide a minimum 5 percent for the airport sponsor matching 



8 
 

share.  Remaining share to complete project could come from any 
available source.  
(B)  For state loans the maximum cost-share level of participation shall not 
exceed 70 percent. The airport sponsor is required to provide a minimum 
5 percent for the airport sponsor matching share. Remaining share to 
complete project could come from any available source.  

(7)  For fuel system construction projects, the Department's maximum cost-share 
level shall be 50 percent and shall not exceed $500,000 per system type (fixed or 
mobile) per fuel type (e.g Jet-A, AvGas). Fixed fuel systems must be new 
construction and mobile fuel systems must be in new condition and acquired in 
compliance with local procurement procedures and/or laws in place that govern 
the airport sponsor. The airport sponsor is required to provide a minimum of 5 
percent for the airport sponsor matching share. Remaining share to complete the 
project could come from any available source.  
(8)  For funding directed to the Department as a part of the Preserving Rural 
Economic Prosperity (PREP) program or other similar state funding program 
created by the legislature for specifically identified site locations and 
infrastructure projects within the Oklahoma Airport System the Department may 
provide funds at a 100 percent level. 

(f)  Grant Application; Project Information. The airport sponsor will provide the 
following information: 

(1)  The airport sponsor shall submit an Airport Layout Drawing or project sketch 
(designated as Exhibit A) indicating the location of the proposed construction 
work with all grant applications. 
(2)  The airport sponsor shall submit final project plans and specifications with the 
grant application (designated as Exhibit B). 
(3)  The airport sponsor shall submit a project narrative with the grant application 
describing the items of airport development for which the airport sponsor is 
requesting assistance (designated as Exhibit B-1). 
(4)  The airport sponsor shall submit a line-item project cost list with the grant 
application that provides a detailed cost breakdown of the project (designated as 
Exhibit B-2). This list will be based on the bid awarded by the airport sponsor. 
The amounts on this list are considered not to be exceeded amounts without 
prior approval.  Any expenditure over these line-item amounts will not be 
considered for reimbursement unless approval has been received as described 
in 25:15-1-4(h). 
(5)  The airport sponsor shall submit the engineering contract for the project 
scope and the project engineering fees with the grant application (designated as 
Exhibit B-3). 
(6)  The Sponsor will submit a certification stating compliance with FAA standards 
unless an approved Modification to Standards for state standards has been 
received from the appropriate funding agency. 
(7)  The airport sponsor shall submit the contract for on-site construction 
observations (designated Exhibit B-4). 
(8)  The airport sponsor shall provide a signed statement in the grant application 
that the airport sponsor is not currently in default to any state agency for any 



9 
 

obligation related to the development, operation or maintenance of the airport 
(designated as Exhibit C). 
(9)  The airport sponsor shall provide a signed statement with the grant 
application that the airport sponsor will not award any contract to any contractor 
who is currently suspended or disbarred by any federal agency, the Oklahoma 
Department of Central Services or the Oklahoma Department of Transportation 
for the project contemplated under the grant application (designated as Exhibit C-
1). 
(10)  The airport sponsor shall provide an affidavit with the grant application that 
states the person signing is the administrative official for the sponsor, that the 
sponsor has not provided any compensation, donation or gift to an officer or 
employee of the state in procuring the grant, that any employee of the state 
compensated by the airport sponsor involved in the development of the grant will 
not provide any services in the project, and that this project will not result in any 
duplication of previous grant requests or awards (designated as Exhibit C-2). 

(g)  Hangar Loan Application; Project Information.  The airport sponsor will provide 
the following information: 

(1)  The airport sponsor shall submit an Airport Layout Drawing or project sketch 
(designated as Exhibit A) indicating the location of the proposed construction 
work with all loan applications. 
(2)  The airport sponsor shall submit final project plans and specifications with the 
loan application (designated as Exhibit B). 
(3)  The airport sponsor shall submit a project narrative with the loan application 
describing the items of airport development for which the airport sponsor is 
requesting assistance (designated as Exhibit B-1). 
(4)  The airport sponsor shall submit a line-item project cost list with the loan 
application that provides a detailed cost breakdown of the project (designated as 
Exhibit B-2). This list will be based on the bid awarded by the airport sponsor. 
The amounts on this list are considered not to be exceeded amounts without 
prior approval.  Any expenditure over these line-item amounts will not be 
considered for reimbursement unless approval has been received as described 
in 25:15-1-4(h). 
(5)  The airport sponsor shall submit the engineering contract for the project 
scope and the project engineering fees with the loan application (designated as 
Exhibit B-3). 
(6)  The Sponsor will submit a certification stating compliance with FAA standards 
unless an approved Modification to Standards for state standards has been 
received from the appropriate funding agency. 
(7)  The airport sponsor shall submit the contract for on-site construction 
observations (designated Exhibit B-4). 
(8)  The airport sponsor shall provide a signed statement in the loan application 
that the airport sponsor is not currently in default to any state agency for any 
obligation related to the development, operation or maintenance of the airport 
(designated as Exhibit C). 
(9)  The airport sponsor shall provide a signed statement with the loan 
application that the airport sponsor will not award any contract to any contractor 



10 
 

who is currently suspended or disbarred by any federal agency, the Oklahoma 
Department of Central Services or the Oklahoma Department of Transportation 
for the project contemplated under the loan application (designated as Exhibit C-
1). 
(10)  The airport sponsor shall provide an affidavit with the loan application that 
states the person signing is the administrative official for the sponsor, that the 
sponsor has not provided any compensation, donation or gift to an officer or 
employee of the state in procuring the loan, that any employee of the state 
compensated by the airport sponsor involved in the development of the loan will 
not provide any services in the project, and that this project will not result in any 
duplication of previous grant or loan requests or awards (designated as Exhibit 
C-2).   
(11)  The airport sponsor shall provide a signed Loan Agreement with the loan 
application that confirms the airport sponsor agrees to the terms established in 
the Loan Agreement. 

(A)  The interest rate will be determined by the Department at the time a 
loan is issued but will be more competitive than what is available in the 
traditional loan market and allow for the Department to recover costs 
associated with administering the loan.  
(B)  The payback period for a hangar loan will be a year term with annual 
payments. 
(C)  The first payment will be due no later than the last day of the month 
beginning two months after completion and final acceptance of the project 
and continuing each subsequent year by the last day of that same month 
for the entire loan term. 

(h)  Change Orders.  As described in 25:15-1-4(f) and 25:15-1-4(g) the B-2 form lists 
line-item project costs that cannot be exceeded.  During the course of the construction 
of a project, change orders and/or supplemental agreements may be necessary to 
increase or decrease bid or line-item amounts and quantities due to unknown or 
unforeseen circumstances.  A change order and/or supplemental agreement shall be 
sent to the Department along with a request to amend the approved grant's B-2 line-
item or bid item.  

(1)  For change orders and/or supplemental agreements that will not increase the 
Department's overall share for the project the Director may approve such an 
amendment to the grant application. Change orders and/or supplemental 
agreements approved by the Director shall be presented to the Commission at its 
next regular or special business meeting stating the reasons for the change order 
and/or supplemental agreement with such information as the Commission may 
require. 
(2)  For change orders and/or supplemental agreements involving a total 
increase to the Department's overall share for the project not to exceed Ten Fifty 
Thousand Dollars ($10,000) ($50,000) the Director may approve such an 
amendment to the grant application. Such change orders and/or supplemental 
agreements approved by the Director shall be presented to the Commission at its 
next regular or special business meeting stating the reasons for the change order 



11 
 

and/or supplemental agreement with such information as the Commission may 
require. 
(3) Change orders and/or supplemental agreements involving a total increase to 
the Department's overall share for the project in excess of Ten Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($10,000) ($50,000) must be presented to and approved by the 
Commission before such an amendment can be made to the grant application. 

(i)  Grant or Loan Application; Height Hazard Zoning and Land Use. Each airport 
sponsor shall indicate within the application that it has taken action to restrict the use of 
land adjacent to or in the immediate vicinity of the airport to activities and purposes 
compatible with normal airport operations, including landing and take-off of aircraft, and 
assuring the protection or control of the aerial approaches to the airport (designated as 
Exhibit D). The adoption and enacting of these zoning regulations is outlined in Title 3, 
Section 103 through 116, of the Oklahoma State Statutes. 
(j)  Grant or Loan Application; Assurances. The airport sponsor, upon signing the 
grant or loan application, agrees to the following assurances: 

(1)  Upon the approval of the grant or loan by the Commission, the project will be 
completed within a maximum of two years unless otherwise explicitly authorized 
by the Commission. 
(2)  The airport sponsor agrees to the following conditions regarding the users of 
the airport: 

(A)  Neither the airport sponsor nor the occupant of any of the airport 
facilities shall discriminate against any person or a class of persons in the 
use of any facility provided to the public on airport property. 
(B)  The airport sponsor shall operate the airport in such a manner that the 
airport is open to all types and classes of users and establish such non-
discriminatory conditions required for the safe and efficient operation of 
the airport. 
(C)  Any agreement, contract, lease or other arrangement that the airport 
sponsor enters into shall include provisions that such services meet the 
demands of all users of the airport, that services shall be provided on a 
non-discriminatory basis, that charges for goods and services shall be fair 
and reasonable, that services allow any user of the airport to perform any 
and all services to their own aircraft, and that essential facilities will be 
operated in a manner that these facilities shall be available to all users of 
the airport. In addition, if the airport sponsor provides any or all of these 
services, the airport sponsor agrees to the same provisions. 

(3)  The airport sponsor certifies that it has the legal authority to carry out all 
provisions of the grant or loan application in conformity with State and Federal 
Statutes, Acts, and Regulations. 
(4)  The airport sponsor shall reserve sufficient powers and authority when 
entering into any transaction or arrangement to perform any of the covenants 
expressed in the grant or loan application. 
(5)  The airport sponsor shall provide the following minimum essential facilities: a 
landing area and an aircraft parking area. 
(6)  The airport sponsor shall agree to properly maintain the airport under the 
following conditions: 



12 
 

(A)  The airport sponsor will operate and maintain the airport and all 
facilities to meet the needs of all users of the airport. 
(B)  The airport sponsor shall not permit the airport to be used for an 
activity that would impede or obstruct aeronautical activity. 
(C)  The airport sponsor shall appropriate the funds required to properly 
maintain the airport to prevent deterioration of the facilities. Failure to have 
a documented pavement maintenance program shall be cause for the 
Department to disqualify the airport sponsor for additional funds. In 
addition, failure to have a documented pavement maintenance program 
shall be considered a breach of these assurances. 

(7)  The airport sponsor shall maintain an updated Airport Layout Plan that has 
been prepared in accordance with the FAA's regulations and shall not make any 
alterations to the airport other than those outlined in the approved Airport Layout 
Plan, or approved by the FAA or the Department in writing. 
(8)  The Department shall prepare a financial report of income and expenditures 
of all project funds. All project records shall be maintained by the airport sponsor 
for not less than three (3) years from the final acceptance of the project by the 
Department, and the airport sponsor shall provide access to these records upon 
request of the Department or the FAA. This provision shall in no way affect any 
requirement imposed upon the airport sponsor by the Oklahoma Open Records 
Act or any other state or federal law. These records shall include such 
documentary evidence as invoices, cost estimates, payrolls, vouchers, cancelled 
checks or warrants, and receipts for cash payments that support each item of 
project costs. The final 10% of state grant or loan funds will not be released until 
a satisfactory financial report has been completed and accepted by the 
Department staff. 
(9)  The Department shall not pay or be obligated to pay for any work on the 
project that has been incurred prior to the grant or loan application being 
submitted to and awarded by the Department except for planning and/or 
engineering costs incurred pursuant to submitting a completed grant or loan 
application. In addition, any funds approved by the Commission shall only be 
used for project costs identified in the grant or loan application unless approval 
has been obtained as described in 25:15-1-4(g). 
(10)  The airport sponsor understands that fuel systems funded by the 
Department must be operated by the public airport sponsor and not a third party 
entity or contractor. 
(11)  The airport sponsor certifies that it will take the necessary and appropriate 
action, to the furthest extent possible, including the potential acquisition of 
property, to restrict the use of land adjacent to or in the immediate vicinity of the 
airport to activities and purposes compatible with normal airport operations, 
including the landing and takeoff of aircraft.  In addition, an airport sponsor shall 
take the necessary and appropriate action to assure that such terminal airspace 
as is required to protect instrument and visual operation to the airport will be 
adequately cleared and protected by removing, lowering, marking, lighting, or 
otherwise mitigating existing airport hazards and by preventing the establishment 
or creation of new airport hazards. 



13 
 

(k)  Grant or Loan Agreement; Terms and Conditions. Upon approval by the 
Commission, the completed grant or loan application shall constitute an agreement 
between the Department and the airport sponsor. Both the Department and the airport 
sponsor are bound to all the requirements of the grant or loan agreement. In addition, all 
grants or loans of the Department shall be subject to the following terms and conditions: 

(1)  The time period of the grant or loan agreement between the airport sponsor 
and the Department shall be twenty (20) years from the date of the airport 
sponsor's acceptance and/or the life of the improvements contemplated under 
the grant or loan application, whichever is longer. 
(2)  The airport and all visual navigational aids shall be under the control of and 
maintained by the airport sponsor for the period covered by the grant or loan 
agreement. 
(3)  For the purposes of the grant or loan agreement, the airport sponsor must 
have title free and clear of any reversionary interest, lien, easement, lease, or 
other encumbrance for all property to be constructed on during the grant or loan 
agreement. If the property is leased, the airport sponsor asserts that the lease 
will be maintained no less than the time period of the grant or loan agreement, 
and in both circumstances, asserts that the property will not be used for any 
purpose other than the operation of the airport. In addition, airport property as 
defined in the airport layout plan cannot be transferred by the airport sponsor 
without the written approval of the Department. 
(4)  The airport and all visual navigational aids shall be made available to all 
classes of aeronautical users without discrimination by airport sponsor with 
adequate access at all times. 
(5)  The airport sponsor will not grant or permit, either directly or indirectly, any 
exclusive right to any person, firm or corporation for any aeronautical activities, 
and will terminate any existing exclusive rights now existing before accepting a 
grant from the Department. 
(6)  The airport sponsor shall complete the project in accordance with FAA's 
standard specifications unless prior written modification to standards has been 
approved by the FAA (for federally funded projects) or the Department (for state 
only projects). The airport sponsor shall provide the following reports to the 
Commission: 

(A)  A weekly progress report using the appropriate form; 
(B)  A copy of all acceptance tests shall be provided by the acceptance 
testing laboratory as soon as they are available; and 
(C)  An acceptance test summary report shall be provided to the 
Department upon completion of the project. 

(7)  The airport sponsor, upon request by the Department, shall provide annual 
statements of airport revenues and expenses. 
(8)  The airport sponsor shall comply with the Municipal Airports Act, Title 3, 
Section 65, and the provisions thereafter, of the Oklahoma State Statutes, 
specifically Section 65.12, that requires that revenues from airport operations be 
deposited in a separate fund and used exclusively for the airport. 



14 
 

(9)  All airport development using grant or loan funds shall be consistent with the 
Airport Layout Plan approved by the FAA. A copy of the approved Airport Layout 
Plan, with any modifications, will be filed with the Department. 
(10)  The airport sponsor shall comply with all applicable provisions of Title 61 of 
the Oklahoma State Statutes which governs competitive bidding for public 
construction contracts. 
(11)  The airport sponsor shall provide a tabulation of all bids signed by the 
Engineer-of-record for the project with the grant or loan application. 
(12)  The airport sponsor shall operate lighting for the airport when such lighting 
is included in the project. 
(13)  The Department and/or the state are not parties to any contract entered into 
by the airport sponsor to accomplish the project. 
(14)  The airport sponsor shall understand and agree that should the airport 
sponsor fail to abide by all of the terms and conditions of the grant or loan 
agreement, then the funds provided by the Department shall be withdrawn. In 
addition, the airport sponsor shall notify the Department of any delays or 
problems with the project and request an extension or deviation from the 
Department. 
(15)  The airport sponsor shall understand and agree that should the airport 
sponsor fail to submit timely loan payments during the course of the 10 year loan 
payback period, the airport sponsor will be prohibited from receiving any 
additional grants or loans until such payments are made and may have existing 
federal and state projects programmed in the 5-year Airport Construction 
Program delayed or removed.   

(l)  Grant or Loan Agreement; Payments. 
(1)  The airport sponsor shall request reimbursement for project costs from the 
Department on a monthly basis upon initiation of the project. The Department 
shall reimburse the sponsor only for bid items at the bid unit price. The 
Department will only process the request for reimbursement when accompanied 
by the following documentation: 

(A)  For federal participation grants, a copy of a FAA Invoice Summary 
Worksheet and a Cost Distribution Worksheet based upon the line items in 
the executed grant or loan. 
(B)  For non-federal participation grants, an Invoice Summary Worksheet 
based upon line items in the executed grant or loan. 
(C)  Copies of all vendor invoices. 
(D)  A construction quantities report from the primary contractor signed by 
the Engineer-of-record. 
(E)  All test invoices. 

(2)  The Department shall process the monthly requests for reimbursement until 
90% of the grant or loan awarded by the Department is expended or 90% of 
the  Department's total project cost is expended in the event the project comes in 
under budget. The final 10% will be released upon the completion of the following 
items: 

(A)  The summary of acceptance testing report and if required by the 
specifications, the calculated lot-wise percentage within limits (PWL) of the 



15 
 

project. The report shall document the results of all acceptance tests 
performed, the construction lot, location of the material tested and the 
quantity represented. 
(B)  A report submitted by the Resident Inspector or Engineer-of-Record 
detailing those acceptance tests that were out-of-tolerance and include the 
pay reductions applied and reasons for accepting any out-of-tolerance 
material. 
(C)  All final acceptance and close-out forms for the project have been 
submitted to the Department. 
(D)  For federal participation grants, a copy of the final signed FAA form 
SF 271 Outlay Report.  
(E)  A satisfactory financial report has been completed by the Department. 

(m)  Endorsement by the Commission: 
(1)  Upon receipt of the fully executed and complete grant or loan application, the 
Department staff shall verify compliance with the terms of the notification letter. 
(2)  If the grant or loan application is found to be in compliance with the terms of 
the notification letter, the Department staff shall forward the grant or loan 
application to the Commission for action. 
(3)  If the Commission approves the grant or loan application, the Department 
staff shall communicate that approval to the airport sponsor with authorization to 
proceed. 
(4)  If the Department staff finds that the grant or loan application is not in 
compliance with the terms of the notification letter, the Department staff shall 
notify the airport sponsor of the non-compliance and suggest possible remedies. 
(5)  Upon receipt of the Department staff's finding of non-compliance, the airport 
sponsor may: 

(A)  Modify the grant or loan application to bring it into compliance with the 
terms of the notification letter; or 
(B)  State the reason that the airport sponsor believes it is in compliance 
and request that the grant or loan application be forwarded to the 
Commission for action; or 
(C)  Agree that it is not in compliance and request that the grant or loan 
application be forwarded to the Commission as is. 
(D)  Request the grant or loan application not be forwarded to the 
Commission. 

(6)  The Department staff shall notify the airport sponsor of the Commission's 
action. 

(n)   Minimum Useful Life. The minimum acceptable useful life for a facility or 
equipment being rehabilitated, reconstructed or replaced must be met in order for a 
project to be considered eligible for funding under the Department’s grant program. 
Simply meeting this minimum useful life does not automatically mean that the 
rehabilitation, reconstruction or replacement of the item is needed if the item is 
performing as intended. 

(1)  All construction projects (unless listed separately below) – 20 years 
(2)  All equipment (unless listed separately below) – 10 years 
(3)  Pavement rehabilitation (not reconstruction, which is 20 years) – 10 years 



16 
 

(4)  Asphalt seal coat, slurry seal, and joint sealing – 3 years 
(5)  Concrete joint replacement – 7 years 
(6)  Airfield lighting and signage – 10 years 
(7)  Fuel trucks – 15 years 
(8)  NAVAIDs and weather reporting equipment – 15 years 
(9)  Buildings (reconstruct, new construction) – 40 years 
(10)   Buildings (rehabilitate) – 20 years 
(11)  Land – unlimited 
(12)  Fencing – 20 years 

 
25:15-1-5. Airport compliance 
It is the Department’s goal to use the most effective means to maintain airports in full 
compliance of grant assurance and terms and conditions requirements. Airports must 
remain in compliance to remain eligible for grant funding from the Department. When 
the Department is working with airports to correct a grant assurance violation, the 
Commission, as the governing body of the Department, may elect to move the airport's 
compliance status to conditional compliance.  Conditional compliance status means an 
airport may continue to receive grant funding in the future and does not necessitate the 
immediate removal of any currently awarded grant funding provided the airport is 
complying with the conditions that the Commission has stipulated and is actively 
working to correct the grant assurance violation. The Commission may elect to move an 
airport's compliance status to non-compliance if a grant assurance has been 
violated.  Non-compliance status means that an airport will not be eligible to receive 
grant funds from the Department in the future and may, at the Commission's sole 
discretion, require the repayment of previously awarded grant funding.  
 
25:15-1-6. Act as Agent 
In lieu of providing financial assistance via a grant the Department can act as an agent 
for an airport sponsor to assist them directly with the contracting of planning, 
engineering, general consulting, and construction activities.  Providing direct assistance 
via acting as agent for an airport sponsor and contracting for the requested activities 
does not relieve a sponsor from any of the previous requirements of this chapter.  Any 
contracts entered into by the Department on behalf of an airport sponsor will insert any 
grant requirements previously listed in this Chapter.   
 
 
 



ASN Year Airport Structure Type APPPA Status

2024 Prague Municipal Antenna Tower Permit Issued

2024 Eufaula Muni Sign Permit Issued

2024 Sallisaw Sign Permit Issued

2025 South Grand Lake Rgnl Guyed Tower Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Commercial Building Terminated

2025 Norman Westheimer Bill Board Terminated

APPPA Permit History CY 2025



ASN Year Airport Structure Type APPPA Status

2025 Norman Westheimer Billboard Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Sign Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Billboard Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Billboard Pending

2025 Norman Westheimer Sign Pending

2025 Tahlequah Water Tank Pending

2025 Fairview Non-Transmitting Tower Permit Issued

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2025 Fairmont Field Wind Turbine Pending

2024 Norman Westheimer Church Permit Issued

2025 ADM? Tower Pending

Approved 5

Denied 0

Terminated 13

Pending 23

Total 41

APPPA Permit History CY 2025


	ODAA Financials 12.31.25.pdf
	Cash Balance
	Revenue
	3Yr Avg Rev
	ODAA Financials 12.31.25.pdf
	Dashboards



